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BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

INNOTRAC CORPORATION, founded in 1984 and based
in Atlanta, Georgia, is a full-service provider of order pro-
cessing, order fulfillment and call center services. The
Company operates fulfillment and call centers in various
cities spanning all four time zones across the continental

United States.

Revenue Mix

Innotrac provides their services to an increasingly
diversified industry base.
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" and for over 18 years we’ve

been ;FUI.FILLI‘NG those
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otal revenues for the year ended December 31, 2002 were

"4 million, and we had a net loss ot $0.38 per share tor

ear. Despﬂe’r e challenges, we did generate positive cas

gsk of replacing lost revenues irom the prior year. lo the credit

our sales team, we were successtul in aftracting severa

POSITIONED T0 large, well-known clients in 2002. The addition of these clients
LEVERAGE OFF created the need for extra capacity and resulted in significant
OF INVESTMENTS capital expenditures and expanded IT development and start-up

costs. We further expanded our national footprint by opening

o
e tioned fo leverage oft of these investments as we
Nove 1INroug 2003.

y Jur dhareholders
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INDUSTRY
CONCENTRATION

HAS SHIFTED
C(ONSIDERABLY

TURNARUUND
PLAN IS

UNDER WAY

Our industry concentration has shifted considerably this year with the addition of several new
refail clients. This shift toward retailers and catalogers introduced a peak holiday season to our
business. | am happy to report that our lorgest ho|idoy season was very successful. Our fulfill-
ment and call centers met, and in most cases exceeded, our clients’ expectations during this
critical time of the year. We ramped up our systems and staff adequately and were able to
handle the increased volume effectively. Our experience in staffing this seasonal business should
provide valuable efficiencies in years to come.

In 2002 our Atlanta operations received 1ISO 9001:2000 certification. This validates our
commitment to offer an exceptionally high quality of services. On the continuum of quality
improvement this is a huge milestone, and it provides a distinct competitive advantage in
aftracting prospects. We are dedicated to making all of our facilities 1ISO 9001:2000 certified
so that our systems are consistent, uniform and perform at the same high level of productivity
throughout our national network. Qur quality plan has a goal of maintaining an order accuracy
rate of greater than $9% in all locations across the U.S. during 2003.

We are committed to return to profitability in 2003, and our furnarcund plan is already under
way. We have made considerable progress in our efforts to reduce our costs by significantly
lowering our SG&A run rate along with improving our operational efficiency and productivity.
We have seen considerable momentum in the fourth quarter of 2002 that should continue
throughout 2003.

Our integrated IT systems, national network of fulfillment centers, full-service call centers and
strong balance sheet along with our ISO certification give us @ unique, high-quality product offer-
ing and provide us with a distinct competitive advantage for attracting new business. We have
very specific operational and financial objectives laid out for 2003 that will put us on a clear
path back to sustainable profitability by year-end.

Scott D. Dorfman

Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

March 31, 2003
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expeclAON, ...

Our clients expect us to
connect to their information
technology systems without
interrupting their operations.

Early in the relationship we designate an implementa-

tion team that facilitates communication to successfully
 implement the client's new program or transition them
| : : - :

from their previous vendor. The team is involved during

the proposal stage and maintains a high level of

involvement until the program “goes live.” Our imple-
mentation methodology employs a time-tested, multi-
phase approach that is geared towards on-time and
on-budget delivery of our integrated fulfiliment and

call center solutions.

Our experience with supporting and implementing var-
ious technology systems enables us to support applica-
tions that inferface with the cutting-edge and legacy
systems that our clients utilize. Our systems and
methodologies have built-in flexibility allowing us to
quickly connect with clients and deploy new marketing
campaigns and promotions with minimal program-
ming on the client side. We rapidly become a seamless

extension of their operations.




ApPECIALION

A customer’s preference for
a product or brand is built
on consistently meefing
expeciations. These

. expectations are not

limited to the benefits

of the product alone.

Every point of contact with our clients’ product or

brand, beginning with the purchasing process and
continuing through customer care that may be required

after the sale, affects customer satisfaction.

We have extensive experience with clients for whom
superior customer service is not an option, but an infe-
gral part of how they do business. We understand the
value of a quality customer experience: from the front-
end customer capture to live customer service, all touch
points are crucial to enhancing the lifetime value of our

clients’ customers.

We have proven quality systems. Our Atlanta opera-
tion was recently awarded 1SO 9001:2000 certifica-
. tion, a designation only a small number of companies

in our industry achieve.

Our long-term porfnerships also speok to the qualify of
service that we deliver. We have eighteen years of expe-
rience in providing superior end-user distribution for major
brands. Most of our clients have been with us for many

years and have readily recognizable brand names.
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execciAigonNe ...

ive U stems that allow

Our cutting-edge order and
warehouse management
systems supply real-time
information about

.~ inventory availability
- and order status

i

o online shoppers.

Our automated e-mail notifications provide critical

transaction information including order acceptance,
credit card authorization, shipment, completion of a

return and backorder status.

QOur clients and their customers expect availability of timely
and accurate data at each stage in the process. Our highly

automated systems deliver on these expectations.

We supply consolidated reporting across multiple loco-
tions and programs, encbling real-time access to order
processing, shipping, tracking, reporting, customer care

and a wealth of other vital program information.

For various programs, account teams also manage
inventory and collateral levels to support daily sales,
promotions, 5eosonc|ity and producf transitions. Innotrac
account management teams continuously evaluate client
programs and provide experienced feedback that is

critical to the success of our clients’ businesses.




XPECIAIBON: |

a your national networ
0_provide freight savings
D OUr customers.

We have several solutions to
minimize freight costs and
leverage our status as a
high-volume shipper to

our clients’ advantage.

Shipping charges often represent the largest component
of our clients’ fulfillment program or marketing campaign
costs. Our national network of fulfillment center locations

provides the flexibility to stock our clients” products at sev-

eral warehouses across the country and thereby reduce

shipping costs for nationally distributed products. Further-
more, we are able to provide freight savings to our clients
with parcel “zone skipping” services wherein parcels are
sorted for transportation to destination bulk mail centers

and then postmarked to reduce overall freight costs.

Another way that we provide freight savings and expe-
dited delivery times to the end consumer is through our
use of a freight consolidator. The consolidator picks up
packages from Innotrac’s various facilities, consolidates
the packages based on the packages’ final destination
zone, and delivers the packages directly to a United
States Postal Service office. One flat rate is charged,
and because they partner with the USPS there is no addi-

tional charge for Saturday delivery.
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Innotrac is one of the leading resources for managing

.~ ABOUT OUR . .

CERVICES . the customer experience at every point of contact,

| beginning with the purchasing process and continuing
| - through after-sale customer care.

| |

W Order Management

We process thousands of individual arders daily. Qur systems are
flexible and we accept ordars 24/7 in o number of ways. These
include e-mail and chat, phone, web-based systems such as EDI,
XML and HTTP, fax and mail. Each client's rules dictate the proce-
dure for cccepting orders, and those orders are verified before being
transmitted to the fulfiliment center. Qur order management sys-
tems allow us to accept and process payments from our clients’
customers via credit card, check or money order.

o3
. \?/ ' Inventory Management

Inventory stocking levels are managed to meet customer demands
during periods of business-us-usual, promotional spikes, catalog
drops and seasonal volume increases. We provide storage solutions
for our dlients hased on the nature of their products and business
cycles. Qur facilities have been built and staffed to protect our
dlients” inventory investments.

Technology
Our clients benefit from the investments that we made in infrostructure and * Integration info clients’ systems
technology. Our investments in technology have created an infrostructure that e Datg warehousing and process control
supports the exchange of information with our clients, erder processing, ship- * Payment processing
ping, fracking, reporting, customer care and databose manegement. Gur e Ondine chat, IVR
structure is flexible and scaloble, allowing us to quickly respond fo our clients” e Ep, FTP
new business apportunities. Technology-bused services include: * Store-ofthe-art order monagement systems

o Sophisficated, infegrated warehouse management sys-
tems and technology

12 INNOTRAC CORPORATION




@ Pick, Pack and Ship

Orders are picked, packed and verified prior to shipment. Qur scanning technology, guality contral
associotes and use of scoles allow us fo verify the accuracy of the shipment confents. We hove
standards in place that cover how the package is prepared for shipment, starfing with protecting the
materials inside. We have also designed programs that allow us to customize orders with gift boxes,
gift cards and specialty packaging. Our investment i tier-one fechnology and highly automated sys-
tems enables us to deliver af a 99.5% accuracy rate and has increased the speed of our operations.
A variety of shipping options are made ovailable to our clients. Our multiple distribution facilities
gcross the U.S. allow us to utilize the most appropriate facility to ship o cur clients” customers,
thereby saving our clients significant freight dollars.

1SO 9001 @ Quality Assurance

Certified | Supervisors and Quality Assurance managers ensure that client-specified quality
standards are met on a daily basfs. Furthermore, as a proven commitment fo
L building and maintaining high-quality systems, our Atlanta operations became
T e SG 9001:2000 certified during 2002. Plons to have remaining facilties certified
ore in place and will be executed over the next few yeors.

7N .
@ Customer Service and Account Management

We deliver help ond information to our clients” customers through our network of call centers. Clients
can elect 1o have us take orders, answer questions about the products, services and programs, provide
information about billings, orders and shipments, provide technical and product support, manage the
return process, facilitate issue resolution and increase sales through cross-sell and ug-sell activities. Qur
clients are furnished with an Account Executive who manages the activifies of the rest of the team and
ensures that the progrom is being implemented according to the client’s businass rules. The Account
Executive also functions as o consultont, constantly monitoring the client’s program and suggesting
improvements.

)

(6 Reporting and Analysis

We produce reports that enable our clients to monitor,
evoluate and manage their programs while allowing
them to identify frends, issues and opportunities.
Standard reports include:
* Orders and sales by product/category/source
* Returns and exchanges by reason
* [nventory status and history including shipments
by SKU and product category, actual versus
forecasted shipments, obsalete inventory
and backorders-
» Gift progrom shipments
o (redit card orders, declines and reconciliations
* Call center activity and performance metrics
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1B0UT OUR 3 Our national footprint provides coverage that enables us

" to ground ship to virtually anywhere in the continental
- LOCATIONS 09 P Yo

United States within two business days.

Reno, Nevada
275,000 square feet

FULFILLMENT CENTER
® 150 fest of conveyers
* 7,800 SKUs
* 10,300 pallet pasitions

CALL CENTER
* 200 stations
© 937,000 calls in 2002
o Provided 4,340,000 minutes
of total talk fime

Pueblo, Colorado
87,000 square fest

FULFILLMENT CENTER
* 180 SKUs
» 1,740 pallet positions

CALL CENTER
& 370 stations
* 1,960,000 calls in 2002
* Provided 10,100,000 minutes of total talk time

{NNOTRAC CORPORATION




Chicago, Illinois
Twa centers tofaling 558,000 square feet

FULFILLMENT CENTER
® 1.7 miles of conveyers
o 47,700 SKUs

48,600 store slofs

~ Cincinnati, Ohio
| 396,000 square feet

\ FULFILLMENT CENTER

) ® 1/2 mile of conveyers
® 3,650 SKUs
17,400 store slots

Atlanta, Georgia
Two facilities including the corporate
headquarters totaling 332,000 square feet

FULFILLMENT CENTER
® 6,750 SKUs
* 12,700 pallet positions




ABOUT OUR
FINANCIAL HEALTH

In 2002 we spent a considerable amount of money and effort to position our Company for the
future. We made significant investments in technology and in the expansion of our national foot-

print. Furthermore, we incurred considerable costs in adding several major clients in 2002. All of

begin to see the upside of the investments made fo get these clients on board and, going forward,

|
1 this occurred in the midst of a tremendously weak and unforgiving economy. In 2003, we will
|

new client implementations will be executed more rapidly and at a significantly reduced cost.

.

In addition, the downturn in the economy slowed our revenue and earnings stream. Volumes from
existing clients dropped precipitously. We have been diligent in our efforts to reduce these effects
by reducing our overhead structure to match these lower volumes. Our loss narrowed significantly
at the end of 2002 as we focused on cost savings and reductions. Moreover, we have appreciably
reduced our IT and labor costs on a run rate basis.

One of our primary focuses for 2003 is to return the Company to profitability while driving cash
flow generation. We have identified several key financial goals that must be met in order to do
that. First, we plan to drive strong internal revenue growth in 2003 over 2002. We also aim to
generate at least $6 million in cash flows from operations through both liquidation of existing
inventory and enhanced profitability. We have taken significant measures to reduce SG&A and
will reduce capital expenditures to no more than $3 million in 2003. Now that the start-up costs
of our new client implementations are behind us, gross margins of greater than 45% should be
attainable. We are confident in our ability to meet these objectives and are already well on our
way to doing so. By achieving the key financial goals we have identified, we anticipate o return
to sustainable profitability during the second half of 2003.

We remain one of the strongest competitors in the industry. We have a strong balance sheet, a
national network of fulfillment and call centers that are equipped to handle the current and future
needs of clients, and we are committed to providing top-quality service to our customers at every
step in the process. In 2003 and beyond, we expect to achieve noteworthy returns on the invest-

ments we have made.

Sincerely,
080«4 A

David Gamsey
Chief Financial Officer

March 31, 2003
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected financial date for the Company. The selected historical statements of operations data for
sach of the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, 2000, 1999 and 1998 and the selected historical balance sheet data
for the periods then ended have been derived from the Company’s audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001, 2000, 1999 and 1998. As discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Staternents,
the Company adopted Emerging Issues Task Force {“EITF”) No. O1-14, “Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements
Received for Out-of-Pocket Expenses Incurred” on January 1, 2002, which requires the presentation of reimbursed out-of-
pocket expenses on a gross basis as revenues and expenses. In accordance with the adoption of EITF 01-14, reimbursements
from customers, which primarily represent freight and postage fees, are presented on a gross basis for each of the years ended

December 31, 2002, 2001, 2000, 1999, and 1998.

Results For Year Ended December 31: 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
(in 000's, except per share amounts)
Revenues $82,420 $121,859 $202,975 $258,267 $139,673
Cost of revenues 46,444 68,153 161,972 206,739 90,195
Special charges (credits) 293) - 16,462 - -
Gross profit 36,269 53,706 24,541 51,528 49,478
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative 37,332 43,329 38,209 30,460 31,332
Special charges 404 - 17,801 - -
Depreciation and amortization 5,336 4,864 4,168 3,414 3,843
Total operating expenses 43,072 48,193 60,178 33,874 35,175
Operating income (loss) (6,803) 5,513 (35,637) 17,654 14,303
Interest (income) expense, net 318 (532) 80 1,370 956
Other (income) expense (124) (20) 141 60 35
Total other {income) expense 194 (552) 221 1,430 991
Income (loss) before income taxes
and minority inferest (6,997} 6,065 (35,858) 16,224 13,312
Income tax {provision) benefit 2,578 (2,573) 14,084 (6,389) (3,743)
Net income (loss) before minority interest (4,419) 3,492 (21,774) 9,835 9,569
Minority interest, net of income taxes - (893) (199) - -
Net income ({loss) ${4419) $ 4385 $(21,575) $ 9835 § 9569
Net income {loss) per share — basic $ (038 $§ 039 $ (192 $§ 099 §$ 1.0
Net income (loss) per share — diluted $ (038 $ 038 $ (1920 $ 098 $ 1.00

Common Stock Information:
Average number of common shares

outstanding — basic 11,516 11,318 11,212 9,911 8,096
Book value per common share'" $ 520 $§ 559 § 523 § 799 $ 424
Year-End Financial Position:
Current assets $41,619 § 58,093 §$ 76,150 $ 94810 §$ 66,416
Current liabilities 20,143 35717 34,175 24,930 39,563
Property and equipment, net 18,915 14,500 13,717 8,922 7,463
Total assets 95,499 99,393 97,145 104,218 73,992
Long-term obligations 15,497 393 166 75 135
Total liabilities 35,640 36,110 34,341 25,005 39,698
Total shareholders’ equity $59,859 § 63,283 $ 58,635 $ 79213 § 34,294

" Book value per common share is calculated by dividing tofal shareholders’ equity at year end by the basic average number of common shares
outstanding.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion may contain certain forward-looking statements that are subject to conditions that are beyond the
control of the Company. Actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.
Factors that could cause actual results to differ include, but are not limited to, the Company’s reliance on a small number of
major clients; risks associated with the terms and pricing of our contracts; reliance on the telecommunications industry and the
effect on the Company of the recent dramatic downturn in the industry and the effect on the Company of the recent dramatic
downturn in that industry; risks associated with changing technology and supporfing exisfing technology; risks associated
with competition; and other factors discussed in more detail under “Business” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

OVERVIEW

Innotrac Corporation [“Innotrac” or the “Company”), founded in 1984 and headquartered in Aflanta, Georgia, provides order
processing, order fulfillment and call center services to large corporations that outsource these functions. in order to perform
call center and fulfillment functions in-house, a company may be required to develop expensive, labor-intensive infrastructures,
which may divert its resources and management's focus from its principal or core business. By assuming responsibility for these
tasks, we strive to improve the qudlity of the non-core operations of our clients and to reduce their overall operating costs. We
enable our clients to manage their sales channels efficiently by utilizing our core competencies, which include:

o Fulfillment Services: -
* sophisticated warehouse management technelogy
¢ automated shipping solutions
* real-fime inventory tracking and order status
* purchasing and inventory management
* channel development
* zone skipping for shipment cost reduction
* product sourcing and procurement
* packaging solutions
* back-order management
® returns management

Call Center Services:

* inbound call center services

* technical support and order status

* refurns and refunds processing

* call centers integrated into fulfillment platform
* cross-sell/up-sell services

¢ collaborative chat

* intuitive e-mail response

We receive most of our clients’ orders either through inbound call center services, electronic data interchange (“EDI”) or the
internet. On a same day basis, depending on product availability, the Company picks, packs, verifies ond ships the item,
tracks inventory levels through an automated, integrated perpetual inventory system, warehouses data and handles customer
support inquiries.

During the 1990s, we had a high focus on the felecommunications industry because of its growth characteristics and increasing
marketing needs. These characteristics have changed quite dramatically in the last several years as growth in the telecommu-
nications industry has slowed and the industry has contracted. However, we continue to provide customer support services and
fulfillment of telephones, Caller ID equipment, Digital Subscriber Line (“DSL”) and Cable Modems and other telecommunications
products to companies such as BellSouth Corporation (“BellSouth”), Warranty Corporation of America ("WACA”) and Qwest
Communications International, Inc. (“Qwest”) and their customers. During the year ended December 31, 2002, approximately
26.5% of our revenues were generated from telecommunications clients and 19.3% of revenues were from DSL and cable
modem clients. Approximately 59.6% of our 2001 revenues were from telecommunications and DSL clients. We anticipate that
the percentage of our revenues affributable to telecommunications and DSL clients will continue to decrease during 2003 due
to the addition of more retail clients.
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MANAGEMENT"S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS continuea

During 2002, 54.2% of revenues were from retail, catalog and direct marketing clients which include such companies as
Coca-Cola, Ann Taylor, Smith & Hawken, Tactica, Porsche, Nordstrom.com, Wilsons Leather, Martha Stewart Omnimedia,
Books Are Fun (a division of Reader’s Digest) and Thane International. We take orders for our retail, catalog and direct mar-
kefing clients via the internet, through a customer service representafive at our Pueblo and Reno call centers or through direct
electronic transmission from our clients. The orders are processed through one of our order management systems and then
transmitted fo one of our seven fulfillment centers located across the country and are shipped to the end consumer typically
within 24 hours of when the order is received. Inventory for our retail clients is held on a consignment basis, with minor exceptions,
and includes items such as shoes, dresses, accessories, books and outdoor fumiture.

With the conversion of a majority of our clients to a fee-for-service model during 2000 and 2001, we no longer purchase and
sell products from third party manufacturers for our clients. Instead, we warehouse products on a consignment basis and fulfill
orders on behalf of our customers for o fee. We continue to purchase and own inventory for certain clients {primarily BellSouth),
but on a significantly reduced risk basis as a result of client guarantees and contractual indemnifications. This model substan-
fially reduces revenues as the pass through cost of purchased inventory is no longer included in revenues. This was the primary
reason for decreased revenues in 2000 and 2001 as compared to prior years.

During 2002, the Company began applying the consensus reached in Emerging Issues Task Force {“EITF”) No. 01-14, “Income
Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for Out-of-Pocket Expenses Incurred” which requires the presentation
of reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses on a gross basis as revenues and expenses. As required, the Company reclassified the
prior period financial information presented herein to comply with the guidance in ETF 01-14. Accordingly, freight and
postage charges in the Company’s fulfillment business during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 totaling
$13.5 million, $27.1 million and $28.9 million, respectively have been presented s revenues and cost of revenues in the cor-
responding Consolidated Statements of Operations. The 2001 and 2000 reclassification has no impact on net income.

In an effort to reduce our industry and client concentration and fo expand our national presence, we acquired iFulfillment, Inc.
{“iFulfillment”) in July 2001 and Universal Distribution Services, Inc. (“UDS”) in December 2000. Qur iFulfillment subsidiary
specializes in fully integrated, automated, order fulfillment services for multi-channel retailers and catalogers including such
clients as Nordstrom.com, Wilsons Leather and Martha Stewart Omnimedia. It is located in a 354,000 square foot leased
facility in Bolingbrook, llinois. Due to the addition of a sizable new client, in September 2002 we leased an additioncl
150,204 square feet in a nearby facility. This new facility has expansion space of an additional 105,357 square feet that we
expect to utilize in 2003, Our UDS division provides integrated order processing, order management, fulfillment and customer
relationship management services. UDS's customer base comprises traditional direct marketing companies including Thane
Infernational and Tactica. It is located in a 275,000 square foot facility in Reno, Nevada. During 2001, we expanded UDS's
business by taking advantage of our East Coast capabilities. Under the terms of Innotrac’s merger agreement with UDS, the
former shareholders of UDS may receive, as part of the consideration paid for their shares, annual confingent payments based
on the operating income generated by our UDS division over a three-year period that commenced December 1, 2000. For
the first year of the earn-out period, UDS's stockholders received approximately $13.7 million in cash and 310,000 shares of
our common stock pursuant to this arrangement. No earnout amounts were earned in the second year. We do not currently
believe any additional contingent payments will be due.

In August 2002 we leased a 396,000 square foot fulfillment center near Cincinnati, in Hebron, Kentucky. This facility provides
fulfillment for Smith & Hawken. Capital expenditures associated with this facility were approximately $4.6 million and were
funded through our bank line of credit.

During 2002, the Company incurred significant start-up and associated technology costs for new client implementations. We
added Martha Stewart Omnimedia and Smith & Hawken to the Reno system. As part of the migration of those two new clients
onto the system we added the requisite functionality and customization. The customized nature of the system required significant
resources fo properly scale the system to meet our clients’ needs and resulted in a considerable upswing in IT costs in 2002.

INNOTRAC CORPORATION




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS confinueg

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth summary operating data, expressed as o percentage of revenues, for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000. Operating results for any period are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period.

During 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) issued EITF No. 01-14, “Income Statement Characterization of
Reimbursements Received for Out-of-Pocket Expenses Incurred,” which was adopted by the Company as of January 1, 2002.
EITF No. 01-14 states that reimbursements received from customers for out-of-pocket expenses incurred on their behalf should
be characterized on a gross basis as revenue in the Company’s statement of operations. Prior to the adoption of this standard,
the Company nefted reimbursements from customers, primarily for freight and postage fees, against the related expenses within
revenues. With the adoption of this standard, the Company has reclassified these expenses as revenues and cost of revenues,
and has conformed this presentation for all periods presented. The adoption of EITF No. 01-14 increased the reimbursable
costs line item within total revenues and total cost of revenues from amounts previously reporfed in 2001 and 2000 by
$27.1 million and $28.9 million, respectively.

The financial information provided below has been rounded in order to simplify its presentation. However, the percentages
below are calculated using the detailed information contained in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
Revenues, net 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of revenues 56.4 559 79.8
Special charges (credits), net (0.4) - 8.1
Gross profit 440 44 12.1
Selling, general and administrative 453 356 18.8
Special charges, net 0.5 - 8.8
Depreciation and amortization 6.5 4.0 20
Operating income (loss) (8.3) 4.5 (17.5)
Other (income) expense 0.2 (0.5) 0.1
Income {loss) before taxes and minority interest (8.5) 50 (17.6)
Income tax (provision) benefit 3.1 (2.1 6.9
Net income (loss) before minority inferest {5.4) 2.9 (10.7)
Minority interest, net of income taxes - {0.7) (0.1
Net income (loss) ‘ (5.4)% 3.6% (10.6)%

SPECIAL CHARGES

The special charges of $34.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 include the following: $24.4 million for inventory,
accounts receivable and other items primarily related to the Company’s shift to a fee-for-service business model; $6.2 million
for the impairment of long-lived assets primarily due to the abandonment of specified software development projects; and $3.7 mil-
fion in costs to exit the e-commerce business related fo web development, maintenance and hosting services. At December 31,
2002 and 2001, the Company had approximately $277,000 and $4.6 million, respectively, in remaining accrudls related to
the special charges recorded during the year ended December 31, 2000. The remaining accruals ot December 31, 2002
relate to exiting the front-end e-commerce and web hosting business.

The Company recognized approximately $3.0 million of special credits during the year ended December 31, 2002, related to
gains realized on sales of inventory items which were previously writien off as special charges in previous periods, cash collected
for accounts receivable that were written off as special charges in previous periods, redeployment of leased computer hard-
ware for which the leases were fully accrued for as special charges in previous periods, and client contract amendments which
resulted in reduced licbilities. These amounts were recorded as a reduction in the special charge line items in the consolidated
statements of operations. The remaining special charge liability, which is associated with one specific client, is expected to be

fully utilized by the end of 2003.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS continued

During 2002, the Company also recognized an additional $3.1 million in special chorges. Approximately $2.4 million of
these charges were related to capitalized hardware and software costs for systems purchased specifically for a potential new
client which were subsequenfly not utilized as originally planned. The loss of the potential customer indicated that the carrying
value of the asset group was potentially not recoverable, and therefore, an impairment test under the provisions of SFAS No. 144
was performed. As fair market value of the asset group was not readily deferminable, a discounted, prebability weighted cash
flow model was utilized as o basis to determine fair value. As a result of the cash flow analysis, a $2.4' million impairment
charge was recorded. Of the remaining charges, approximately $500,000 related to the write-down to net realizable value
of specified fixed assets obtained as part of the December 2000 acquisition of UDS which were being utilized for one specific
customer who ceased conducting business with UDS. The balance of approximately $200,000 was related to severance costs
for positions which were eliminated.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

Revenues. The Company’s net revenues decreased 32.4% to $82.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 from $121.9 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2001. The decrease in revenues is primarily due to the loss of the SBC contract which
ended on November 30, 2001 and represented approximately $15.3 million of revenues during the year ended December 31,
2001; completion of the fee-for-service transition; and a significant decrease in freight revenues due to clients utilizing their
own direct billed freight accounts. This decline in revenues was partially offset by the re-initiation of fulfillment services of
consumer premise equipment (“CPE”} during the third quarter of 2001 and the expansion of services to include wireless pager
equipment with BellSouth during the fourth quarter of 2001, as well as the commencement of the Martha Stewart Living
Omnimedia, Inc. contract in the first quarter of 2002 and the Smith & Hawken, Ann Tayler and Books Are Fun contracts in
the third quarter of 2002.

Cost of Revenues. The Company's cost of revenues decreased 31.9% to $46.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002
compared to $68.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. Cost of revenues decreased primarily due to a decrease
in freight costs. A reduction in call center direct costs from the loss of the SBC contract in December 2001 and the subsequent
closure of the Atlanta call center in January 2002 also contributed to the decrease in cost of revenues during 2002 as com-
pared to 2001. This decline in cost of revenues was partially offset by expenses incurred in the second half of 2002 relating
to additional fulfillment labor required to handle the start-up of several new fulfillment clients as outlined above.

Specio! Charges. The Company recognized approximately $293,000 related to gains realized on sales of inventory items previ-
ously written down as part of the 2000 special charge.

Gross Profil. For the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company’s gross profit decreased to $34.3 million, or 44.0% of
revenues, compared to $53.7 million, or 44.1% of revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2001. The decrease in gross
profit was due primarily to the factors discussed above.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. S,G&A expenses for the year ended December 31, 2002 decreased 13.8% to $37.3 mil-
lion or 45.3% of revenues compared to $43.3 million or 35.6% of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2001. The
decrease in expenses in 2002 was mainly atributable to charges recorded during the first quarter of 2001, primarily for
(i) the impairment of software development costs and severance costs related fo Return.com and {ii) a significant decrease in bad
debt expense in 2002, The decline in S,G&A costs was partially offset by increased costs from the acquisition of iFulfillment, Inc.
in July 2001 and increased information technology and start-up expenses associated with new client implementations during 2002.

Special Charges. The Company recorded special charges of $3.1 million during 2002 primarily related to the impairment of cap-
italized hardware and software costs for systems not being ufilized as originally planned. This was offset by the reversal of a
portion of the 2000 special charges totaling approximately $2.7 million related to accounts receivable reserves that were no
longer required, the redeployment of leased computer hardware which were previously fully reserved for as special charges,
and client contract amendments which resulted in decreased future obligations to the Company.

income Taxes. The Company’s effective tox rate for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 was a benefit of 36.8% and
a provision of 42.4%, respectively. The decrease in the absolute rate was principally due to the impact of certain items not
deductible for tax purposes.
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

Revenues. The Company’s net revenues decreased 40.0% to $121.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from
$203.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The decrease in revenue is primarily due to the Company’s switch to
a fee-for-service model and the decline in sales of Caller ID equipment, offset by an increase in DSL modems fulfilled and

increased revenues of $35.8 million from the Company’s acquisition of Universal Distribution Services (“UDS"}, which occurred
in December 2000.

Cost of Revenues. The Company’s cost of revenues decreased 57.9% to $68.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001
compared to $162.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. Cest of revenues decreased primarily due to the decrease
in equipment units sold, as opposed to fulfilled, by the Company due to the shift to fee-for-service and the decline in sales of
Caller ID equipment offset by increased cost of revenues of $25.9 million s a result of the acquisition of UDS in December 2000.

Special Charges. The Company recorded a special charge of $16.5 million for inventory write-downs and write-offs during 2000,
associated with its switch to a fee-for-service business model.

Gross Profit. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company’s gross profit increased to $53.7 million, or 44.1% of
revenues, compared to $24.5 million, or 12.1% of revenues, for the yeor ended December 31, 2000. The increase in gross
profit was due primarily to the factors discussed above. '

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. S,G&A expenses for the year ended December 31, 2001 increased 13.4% to $43.3 mil-
lion or 35.6% of revenues compared fo $38.2 million or 18.8% of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2000. This
increase in expenses was primarily attributable to the write-off of the Company’s investment in Return.com; expenses incurred
from the impairment of certain software development costs and other long-lived assets associated with the termination of the
SBC contract; the closure of the Aflanta call center operations; and increased costs incurred from the acquisitions of iFulfillment
in July 2001 and UDS in December 2000. The increase in expenses was offset by a reduction in expenditures for technology
related to e-commerce applications and internal systems development during 2001,

Speciol Charges. The Company recorded special charges of $17.8 million for impaired assets, accounts receivable and other
write-offs during the year ended December 31, 2000. These special charges, as previously discussed, were primarily related
to the Company's shift to a fee-for-service business model, its exit from the e-commerce business and the abandonment of spec-
ified software development projects.

income Taxes. The Company's effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 was 42.4% and 39.3%,
respectively. The increase was principally due to the Company no longer investing in tax-exempt securities and certain items
not deductible for tax purposes representing a greater percentage of taxable income.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company funds its operafions and capital expenditures primarily through cash flow from operations and borrowings
under a credit facility with a bank. The Company had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $961,000 at December 31,
2002 as compared to $9.4 million at December 31, 2001. Additionally, the Company had borrowings under its revolving
credit facility (discussed below) of $14.4 million outstanding ot December 31, 2002 as compared to $0 at December 31,
2001.. Primary uses of cash, which will be discussed in greater detail below, were for capital expenditures of $12.8 million
and an earn-out payment associated with a prior acquisition of $13.7 million.

The Company has a revolving credit agreement with a bank for borrowings up to $40 million. In May 2002, the Company
extended its credit facility until June 2005. The Company and its subsidiaries have pledged all of its assets and provided
guarantees to the lender as collateral under this revolving credit agreement. At December 31, 2002, the Company had
approximately $14.4 million outstanding in borrowings under the line of credit. At December 31, 2001, the Company did
not have any outstanding borrowings under the line of credit. The revolving line of credit agreement contains various restrictive
financial and change of ownership control covenants. Noncompliance with any of the covenants allows the lender to declare
any outstanding borrowing amounts to be immediately due and payable. The May 2002 amendment added provisions
limiting borrowings under the agreement to a margin or borrowing base, as defined, which totaled $31.5 million ot
December 31, 2002 and tightened certain of the financial covenants. Additional modifications were made to the line of
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credit agreement in November 2002 and February 2003 addressing the financial covenants. At December 31, 2002, the
Company was in compliance with all covenants under the amended and medified credit agreement.

The most restrictive financial covenant under the revolving credit agreement relates fo a minimum tangible net worth require-
ment. Tangible net worth is computed as shareholders’” equity less goodwill, other intangible assets and certain deferred
costs. Included in the bank's definition of tangible net worth is the carrying amount of the Company’s deferred tax asset.
The Company’s current minimum tangible net worth exceeds the required minimum tangible net worth as of December 31,
2002 by approximately $100,000. Compliance with the minimum tangible net worth covenant and other financial
covenants are determined on a quarterly basis.

The revolving credit agreement is classified as a noncurrent liability in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31,
2002. During the first quarter of 2003, the Company is in ongoing negotiations with the lender to modify the terms and
covenants of the revolving credit agreement. The result of these negotiations could require borrowings under this revolv-
ing credit agreement to be included in current liabilities in the future or if no agreement is reached, could result in a
covenant violation.

Interest on borrowings is payable monthly at rates equal to the prime rate, or at the Company’s option, LBOR plus up to 225 basis
points. During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2000 the Company incurred interest expense related to the line of
credit of approximately $266,100 and $433,300, respectively, resulting in a weighted average interest rate of 3.75% and
7.49%, respectively. The Company incurred no interest expense on this line during 2001. At December 31, 2002, the
Company had $17.1 million available under the revolving credit agreement.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company generated $3.9 million in cash flow from operating activities com-
pared to $4.5 million in cash flow from operating activities in the same period in 2001. The decrease in cash from operating
activities was primarily the result of a decrease of $8.8 million in net income offset by a decrease in inventories and an increcse
in accounts payable.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, net cash used in investing activities was $25.9 million as compared to $13.2 million
in 2001. This difference was due to a $7.6 million increase in cash payments made related to prior acquisitions {including the
earn-out payment of $13.7 millicn made in February 2002) and $12.8 million in capital expenditures, primarily in conjunction
with the Company’s new facility in Hebron-Cincinnati and capitalized technology costs. All of these expenditures were funded
through existing cash on hand, cash flow from operations and borrowings under the Company’s credit facility. Management does
not anticipate any additional costs in 2003 asscciated with prior acquisitions and a substantially reduced level of capital
expenditure spending.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the net cash provided by financing activities was $13.6 million compared fo @
use of $0.2 million in the same period in 2001 . The $13.8 million increase was primarily due to borrowings of $14.4 million
under the credit facility less repayments of capital lease obligations, loan fees associated with amendments, modifications and
waivers to the Company's credit facility and the buyback of treasury shares with a purchase price of $448,000. The
Company’s stock buyback program expired in February 2003.

The Company estimates that its cash and financing needs through 2003 will be met by cash flows from operations and its
credit facility. The Company may need to raise additional funds in order fo toke advantage of unanticipated opportunities,
such as acquisitions of complementary businesses. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to raise any such
capital on terms acceptable to the Company or at all.

The Company’s primary long-term contractual commitments consist of capital and operating leases. As previously discussed,
the Company has largely transitioned from an inventory ownership to a fee-for-service model, so the Company’s commitments
to purchase inventory have been greatly reduced from historical levels. To the extent the Company commits to purchase and
own inventory for certain clients, the Company now generally seeks client guarantees and contractual indemnifications to pro-
tect it from inventory risk. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had none of the following: guarantees of other entities’
obligations, off-balance sheet or structured finance arrangements, synthetic leases, repurchase obligations or similar commercial
or financing commitments. Additionally, the Company does not trade in commodity contracts.
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The following table sets forth the Company’s contractual commitments by period. For additional information, see Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements {in 000’s).

Payments Due by Period

Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years Alter 5 years

Capital leases $ 287 $ 136 $ 15 $ - $ -
Operating leases 30,171 6,866 12,126 10,279 900
Line of credit 14,372 - 14,372 - -

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISKS

Management believes the Company’s exposure to market risks is immaterial. Innotrac holds no market risk sensitive instruments
for trading purposes. At present, the Company does not employ any derivative financial instruments, other financial instru-
ments or derivative commodity instruments to hedge any market risks and does not currently plan to employ them in the future.
To the extent that the Company has borrowings outstanding under its credit facility, the Company will have market risk relating
to the amount of berrowings due to variable interest rates under the credit facility. The Company’s exposure is immaterial due
to the short-term nature of these borrowings. Additionally, all of the Company’s lease obligations are fixed in nature as noted
in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, and the Company has no long-term purchase commitments.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangibles. Goodwill represents the cost of an acquired enterprise in excess of the fair market value
of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired. Goodwill and other acquired intangibles related to business
combinations prior to July 1, 2001 were being amortized over 5 to 20 years on a straight-line basis, which represented man-
agement's estimation of the related benefit to be derived from the acquired business. However, goodwill and other acquired
intangibles from business combinations occurring after June 30, 2001 are accounted for under the transition provisions for
business combinations of SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets” which includes the iFulfillment acquisition. The Company adopted SFAS No. 142 effective January 1, 2002, which
changed the accounting for goodwill and cther indefinite life intangibles from an amortization method to an impairment only
approach. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill impairment is deemed to exist if the net book value of a reporting unit exceeds its
estimated fair value. Upon completion of its analysis for impairment in the second quarter of 2002 in accordance with the
adoption of SFAS No. 142, no impairment was defermined to exist at that time.

Innotrac’s goodwill carrying amount as of December 31, 2002 was $25.0 million. This asset relates to the goodwill associcted
with the Company’s acquisition of Universal Distribution Services {“UDS"} in December 2000 (including the earnout payment
made to the former UDS shareholders in February 2002), and the acquisition of iFulfillment, Inc. in July 2001. In accordance
with SFAS No. 142, the Company contracted with an independent third-party valuation firm to perform a valuation in the first
quarter of 2003. The third party valuation supported that the fair value of the reporting unit at January 1, 2003 exceeds the car-
rying amount of the net assets, including goodwill, and thus no impairment currently exists. Management has reviewed and
concurs with the major assumptions used in the third party’s valuation at January 1, 2003. The Company will perform this
impairment test annually as of January 1 or sooner if circumstances indicate.

Deferred Tax Asset. Innotrac utilizes the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method, deferred taxes
are determined based on the difference between the financial and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in
effect in the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded against deferred tax
assets if the Company considers it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be realized. Innotrac’s net deferred
tax asset as of December 31, 2002 is $8.5 million. This net deferred tax asset was primarily generated by net operating loss
carryforwards created primarily by two events, the special charge of $34.3 million recorded in 2000 and the net loss gener-
ated in 2002. Innotrac has o tax net operating loss carryforward of $27.6 million at December 31, 2002 that expires between
2018 and 2020. Although the Company has generated financial reporting and tax losses in 2000 and 2002, the Company
was profitable in 2001, Further, 2000 and 2002 were the only years with losses since Innotrac began its operations in 1984,
Management believes that its net operating loss carryforwards will be utilized before their expiration principally through future
earnings. This assessment is based on management's expectations of increased revenues, lower selling, general and adminis-
trafive expenses, reduced capital expenditures and no impairment losses related to goodwill in the future.
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Innotrac’s ability to generate the expected amounts of taxable income from future operations is dependent upon generdl
economic conditions, competitive pressures on sales and margins and other factors beyond management's control. There can
be no assurance that Innotrac will meet its expectations for future taxable income in the earryforward period. However, man-
agement considered the above factors in reaching the conclusion that it is more likely than not that future taxable income will
be sufficient to fully realize the net deferred tax asset at December 31, 2002. The amount of the net deferred tax asset
considered realizable, however, could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income during the carry-
forward period are reduced.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board [“FASB”} issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” and
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and.Other Infangible Assefs.” SFAS No. 141 prohibits the use of pooling-of-interest for business
combinations initiated ofter June 30, 2001 and also applies to all business combinations accounted for by the purchase
method that are completed ofter June 30, 2001. There are also transition provisions that apply to business combinations
completed after July 1, 2001, that were accounted for by the purchase method. SFAS No. 142 changes the accounting for
goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets from an amortization methed to an impairment only approach. The
Company adopted this statement effective January 1, 2002. During the two years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000
amortization expense associated with goodwill was approximately $23%,800 and $14,500, respectively.

The Company has intangible assets that continue to be subject to amortization under the provisions of SFAS No. 142. The
infangible assets consist of acquired customer contracts, which are included in other assets in the Company’s consolidated balance
sheets and which are amortized over a period of 1 o 5 years on a straight-line basis. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the
Company had intangible assets, consisting primarily of customer contracts, of approximately $589,000 and $958,000, net
of accumulated amortization of approximately $671,000 and $302,000, respectively. Amortization expense of these intan-
gible assets amounted to approximately $369,000, $285,000 and $16,800 during the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively. Expected amortization expense for these intangible assets is $202,000 in 2003, $202,000 in
2004 and $185,000 in 2005.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” SFAS 144
supersedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long Lived Assets to be Disposed of,”
and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations—Reporting the
Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and
Transactions,” and amends APB Ne. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements.” SFAS 144 retains many of the requirements of
SFAS 121 and the basic provisions of APB Opinion 30; however, it establishes a single accounting model for long-lived assets
to be disposed of by scle. The Company adopted SFAS No. 144 on January 1, 2002; the adoption did not have any effect
on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. The impairment loss recorded during the year ended December 31,
2002 was accounted for in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144 {see Note 2).

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” This Statement
requires recording costs associated with exit or disposal activities at their fair values when a liability has been incurred. Under
previous guidance, certain exit costs were accrued upon management's commitment to an exit plan, which is generally before
an actual liability has been incurred. Adoption of this Statement is required at the beginning of fiscal year 2003. The Company
does not anticipate that the adoption of SFAS No. 146 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial position, results
of operations or cash flows.
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in December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation —Transition and Disclosure -
an amendment to FASB Statement No. 123,” which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2002. SFAS
No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to provide dlternative methods of transition for
a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based empleyee compensation. SFAS No. 148 also
amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial
statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on
reported results. The Company accounts for stock-based compensation under Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” The Company intends to continue to account for stock-based employee
compensation under APB No. 25. Note 2 fo the financial statements includes the addifional disclosure requirements of SFAS
No. 148 as required by entities which continue to account for stock-based employee compensation under APB No. 25.

in November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation {“FIN”) No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Other.” FIN No. 45 requires footnote disclosure of the guar-
anfees or indemnification agreements a company issues. With certain exceptions, these agreements will also require a com-
pany fo prospectively recognize an initial liability for the fair value, or market value, of the obligations it assumes under the
guarantee. The initial recognition and initial measurement provisions of this Interpretation are applicable on @ prospective basis
to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The disclosure requirements of the Interpretation are effective for
financial statements of the interim or annual periods ending after December 15, 2002. The Company does not anticipate that
the adoption of the recognition and measurement provisions of FIN No. 45 will have a material impact on its consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows. The disclosure requirements of FIN No. 45 have been considered in the
Company’s 2002 consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS” REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Innotrac Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Innotrac Corporation and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002,
and the reloted consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial state-
ments are the respensibility of the Corporation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 2002 financial statements
based on our audit. The financial statements as of December 31, 2001 and for each of the years in the two-year period then ended, before
the reclassifications and inclusion of disclosure discussed in Notes 2 and 16 fo the financial statements, were audited by other auditors who
have ceased operations. Those auditors expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and stated that such 2001 and
2000 financial statements, presented fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein, in their report dated February 8, 2002.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit dlso includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the 2002 consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Innotrac
Corporation. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year
then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, in 2002 the Corporation changed its method of accounting for goodwill and other
intangible assets to conform to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 [SFAS No. 142).

As discussed above, the financial statements of Innotrac Corporation and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and for each of

the two years in the period then ended, were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations. These consolidated financial

statements have been revised as follows:
(&) As described in Note 2 under the heading “Revenue Recognition,” the Corporation adopted EfTF Issue No. 01-14, “Income Statement
Characterization of Reimbursements Received for Qut-of-Pocket Expenses Incurred,” on January 1, 2002. We audited the reclassifications
described in Note 2 that were applied o conform the 2001 and 2000 financial statements to the comparative presentation required
by EITF Issue No. G1-14. Qur audit procedures with respect to the reclassifications of out-of-pocket freight and postage expenses
included (i} comparing the amounts shown for reimbursable costs in the Corporation’s consolidated statements of operations to the
Corporation’s underlying records obtained from management, and (ii} on a test basis, comparing the underlying records obtained
from management to independent supporting documentation, and {iii) testing the mathematical accuracy of the underlying analysis;
(b) As described in Note 2 under the heading “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” transitional disclosures required by SFAS
No. 142, which was adopted by the Corporation as of January 1, 2002, have been added. Our audit procedures with respect to
the disclosures in Note 2 discussed above with respect to 2001 and 2000 included (i} comparing the previously reported net
income to the previously issued financial statements and the adjustments to reported net income representing amortization
expense (including any related tax effects) recognized in those periods to the Corporation’s underlying analysis obtained from
management, and (ii) testing the mathematical accuracy of the reconciliation of adjusted net income to reported net income,
and the related earnings-per-share amounts;
(c) As described in Note 16, disaggregations of certain financial statement amounts and note disclosures have been added. Our audit
procedures with respect to the financial staternent amounts and note disclosures described in Note 16 included (i) comparing the previ-
ously reported amounts to the Corporation’s underlying records obtained from management, {ii) testing the mathematical accuracy of
the disaggregation, and {iii) comparing added disclosure amounts to the Corporation’s underlying records obtained from management.

In our opinion, the reclassifications and disclosures for 2001 and 2000 described in Note 2 and Note 16 are appropriate. However,
we were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2001 or 2000 financial statements of the Corporation other
than with respect to such reclassifications and disclosures and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of
assurance on the 2001 or 2000 financial statements taken as a whole.

&m 3 @ Lup

March 24, 2003
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Pursuant to Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 2-02 of Regulation $-X, the following report is a copy of a report pre-
viously issued by Arthur Andersen LLP, which has ceased operations, and has not been reissued by Arthur Andersen LLP.
Arthur Andersen LLP reported on such financial statements prior to the reclassifications and revisions discussed in Note 2 and
Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

To Innotrac Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Innotrac Corporation (@ Georgia corporation) and Subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2001 and 2000 and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our respensibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstate-
ment. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all matericl respects, the consolidated financial position of
Innotrac Corporation and ifs subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 ond the results of their operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001 in conformity with cccounting standards generally accepted in the
United States.

Arthur Andersen LLP
Aflanta, Georgia
February 8, 2002
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2002 2001
{in QOQ's)

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 961 $ 9,413

Accounts receivable, net 14,203 13,662

Inventories, net 24,098 27,264

Prepaid expenses and other 2,357 5,018

Deferred income taxes 552 2,736

Total current assefs 2,171 58,093
Property and equipment:

Rental equipment 1,372 2,003

Computer, machinery and equipment 26,315 19,715

Furniture, fixtures and leasehold improvements 4,585 4,005

32,272 25,723

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (13,357 (11,223)

18,915 14,500

Goodwill, net 24,988 25,213

Deferred income taxes 7,940 438

Cther assets, net 1,485 1,149

Total assets $95,499 $99,393

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 2002 2001
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $13,517  § 8,581

Accrued earnout payment - 15275

Accrued salaries and commissions 1,570 2,159

Accrued expenses and other 5,056 9,702

Total current liabilities 20,143 35717
Noncurrent liabilities:
Line of credit 14,372 -
Other noncurrent liabilities 1,125 393
Total noncurrent liabilities 15,497 393
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock: 10,000,000 shares authorized,

$0.10 par value, no shares outstanding - -
Common stock: 50,000,000 shares authorized, $0.10 par value,

11,674,595 (2002) and 11,364,595 (2001) shares issued,

11,417,780 (2002) and 11,313,180 {2001) shares outstanding 1,167 1,136
Additional paid-in capital 62,614 61,023
Retained earnings {deficit) (3,219} 1,201
Accumulated other comprehensive income - 178
Treasury stock: 256,815 (2002) and 51,415 (2001) shares (703) (255)

Total shareholders’ equity 59,859 63,283

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $95,499  $99,393

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated balance sheets.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
{in 000’s, except per share data)
Revenues, net $68,917 $ 94793 $174,085
Reimbursable costs 13,503 27,066 28,890
Total revenues 82,420 121,859 202,975
Cost of revenues 32,941 41,087 133,082
Reimbursable costs 13,503 27,066 28,890
Special charges {credits), net (293} - 16,462
Total cost of revenues 46,151 68,153 178,434
Gross profit 36,269 53,706 24,541
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative 37,332 43,329 38,209
Special charges, net 404 - 17,801
Depreciation and amortization 5,336 4,864 4,168
Total operating expenses 43,072 48,193 60,178
Operating income (loss) {6,803) 5,513 (35,637)
Other (income) expense:
interest (income) expense, net 318 (532 80
Other (124) (20} 141
Total other (income) expense 194 (552) 221
Income {loss) before income taxes '
and minority interest (6,997} 6,065 (35,858)
Income tax (provision) benefit 2,578 (2,573) 14,084
Net income (loss) before minority interest 4,419) 3,492 (21,774)
Minority interest, net of income taxes - (893) (199)
Net income (loss) $(4,419) $ 4385 $(21,575)
Earnings per share:
Basic $ (038) $ 032 § (192
Diluted $ (038 $ 038 § (192
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 11,516 11,318 11,212
Diluted 11,516 11,690 11,212

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY

Accumulated
Retained Other

Common Stock Paid-in  Earnings Comprehensive  Treasury
Shares  Amount Capital (Deficit) Income Stock Total

{in 000’}
Balance at December 31, 1999 11,215 $1,121  $59,701 $18,391 $ - $ - 879213
Issuance of common stock 150 15 1,238 - - - 1,253
Purchase of treasury stock - - - - - (206) (206)
Restricted stock grant, net - - (50) - - - (50)
Net loss ' - - - (21,575) - - (21,575)
Balance at December 31,2000 11,365 $1,136 $60,889 $ (3,184) $ - $(206) $58,635
Restricted stock grant, net - - 134 - - - 134
Purchase of treasury stock - - - - - (49) (49)
Comprehensive income:

Net income - - ~ 4,385 - - 4,385

Unrealized gain on

available-for-sale

securities - - ~ - 178 - 178
Balance at December 31, 2001 11,365 $1,136 $61,023 $ 1,201 $178 $(255) $63,283
Issuance of common stock 310 31 1,519 - - - 1,550
Restricted stock grant, net - - 72 - - - 72
Purchase of treasury stock - - ~ - - (448) {448)
Comprehensive income:

Net loss - - - {4,419 = - (4,419)

Reclassification adjustment

for relized gain included

in consolidated statement

of operations - - -~ - (178) - (178)
Balance at December 31,2002 11,675 $1,167 $62,614  $(3,219) $ - $(703) $59,859

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
{in 000's)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss} $(4,419) $4,385  $(21,575)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 5,336 4,864 4,168
Impairment and loss on fixed assets 3,638 3,385 6,430
Deferred income taxes (5,317} 3,389 {5,627)
Minority interest in subsidiary - (893) (199)
Amortization of deferred compensation 72 134 38
Changes in working capital, net of effect of businesses acquired:
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable {541} 17,659 21,908
Decrease (increase) in inventories 3,165 (12,208) 24,447
Decrease {increase) in prepaid expenses and other assets 1,248 (180) (2,554)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable 4,936 (13,562) 9,390
(Decrease) increase in accrued expenses and cther {4,248} (2,491) 2,538
Net cash provided by operating activities 3,870 4,482 38,964
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures {12,830) {6,214)  (13,644)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (13,502) (5,859) (1,678)
Sale (purchase) of available-for-sale securities 436 (436) -
Net cash (used in} investing activities (25,896)  (13,209) (15,322)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net {repayments) borrowings under line of credit 14,372 - (7,008)
Repayment of capital lease and other obligations {250) (145) 212
Proceeds from minority inferest in subsidiary - - 1,000
Purchase of treasury stock (448) (49) (206)
Loan fees paid {100) - -
Net cash {used in) provided by financing activities 13,574 (194) (6,202)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (8,452) (8,921) 17,440
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 9413 18,334 894
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period § 961 $9.413  $18,334
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid for interest $ 355 $ 110 § 429
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds received s (18) $ (80) $ (5,907

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

]
ORGANIZATION

Innotrac Corporation {“Innotrac” or the “Company”) and its wholly-owned subsidiary, iFulfillment, Inc., a Georgia corporation,
provide order processing, order fulfiliment and call center services. The Company offers inventory management, inbound
call center, pick/pack/ship services, order tracking, transaction processing and returns handling from its leased facilities
in Atlanta, Georgia, Pueblo, Colorado, Reno, Nevada, Bolingbrook, lilinois and Hebron, Kentucky. The Company’s facilities
represent over 1.5 million square feet of warehouse space and 570 dedicated call center seats.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Finoncial Statement Presentation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its sub-
sidiaries. The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Al significant intercompany transactions and balances
have been eliminated in consolidation.

Accounting Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Concentration of Revenues. Revenues earned under the Company’s contracts with its telecommunication clients to provide ful-
fillment of telecommunications equipment and related order processing and call center support services, including DSL
modems and wireless pagers, accounted for approximately 46%, 60% and 90% of total revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Revenues generated from the fulfillment of DSL equipment accounted
for 19%, 18%, and 21% of the aforementioned totals.

The following table sets forth the percentage of total revenues derived from each of the Company’s largest clients for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000. Except for the major clients noted in the following table, no other single cus-
tomer provided more than 10% of consolidated revenues during these years.

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
BellSouth — Telecom equipment 18.7% 12.2% 16.3%

~ DSL equipment 9.7 10.8 8.9
Tactica 16.8 9.9 0.2
Thane International 8.7 15.3 1.0
SBC Communications : - 12.6 46.3
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continves

Cash and Cash Equivalents. The Company considers all short-term, highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents.

Short-Term Investments. Current available-for-sale marketable securities are carried at their estimated fair value bosed on
current market quotes. Any unrealized gains or losses are reported in shareholders’ equity as a component of other
accumulated comprehensive income (loss). At December 31, 2002, the Company had no available-for-sale securities. At
December 31, 2001, the Company had available-for-sale marketable equity securities totaling $613,202 which were
included in other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. The carrying value of the Company’s revolving credit facility approximates fair value given
that interest rates under the facility are based on prevailing market rates.

Inventories. Inventories, consisting primarily of telephones, interactive wireless pagers and DSL ond cable modems, are stated
at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined by the first-in, first-out method. Substanticlly all inventory at
December 31, 2002 and 2001 is for the account of one client who has indemnified the Company from substantially all
risk associated with such inventory.

Properly and Equipment. Property and equipment are stated af cost. Depreciation is determined using straight-line methods
over the following estimated useful lives:

Rental equipment . 3 years
Computers and software 3-5 years
Machinery and equipment 5-7 years
Furniture and fixtures 7 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the service lives of the improve-
ments or the remaining term of the lease. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.

Goodwill and Other Acquired Infangibles. Goodwill represents the cost of an acquired enterprise in excess of the fair market value
of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired. Goodwill and other acquired intangibles related to business
combinations prior to July 1, 2001 were being amortized over 5 to 20 years on a straight-line basis, which represented
management's estimation of the related benefit to be derived from the acquired business. However, goodwill and other
acquired intangibles from business combinations occurring after June 30, 2001 are accounted for under the transition
provisions for business combinations of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141, “Business
Combinations,” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which includes the iFulfillment acquisition.
The Company adopted SFAS No. 142 effective January 1, 2002, which changed the accounting for goodwill and other
indefinite life intangibles from an amortization method to an impairment only approach. The Company intends fo test
goodwill annudlly for impairment at January 1 or sooner if circumstances indicate.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continueg

In accordance with the adoption of SFAS No. 142, no amortization of goodwill was recorded in 2002. During the two years
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, amortization expense associated with goodwi!l was approximately $239,800 and
$14,500, respectively. The Company’s pro forma consolidated net income/{loss) and earnings per share for the years
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, excluding goodwill amortization, would have been net income of $4.5 million
{$0.40 per share basic and $0.39 diluted) and a net loss of $21.6 million {$1.92 per share basic and diluted), respectively.

The Company has intangible assets that continue to be subject to amortization under the provisions of SFAS No. 142. The
intangible assets consist of acquired customer contracts, which are included in other assets in the Company’s consclidated
balance sheets and which are amortized over a period of 1 to 5 years on a straight-line basis. At December 31, 2002
and 2001, the Company had intangible assets, consisting primarily of customer contracts, of approximately $589,000 and
$958,000, net of accumulated amortization of approximately $671,000 ond $302,000, respectively. Amortization
expense of these intangible assets amounted to approximately $36%,000, $258,000 and $164,800 during the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Expected amortization expense for these intangible assets is
$202,000 in 2003, $202,000 in 2004 and $185,000 in 2005.

Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill impairment is deemed fo exist if the net book value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated
fair value. Upon completion of its analysis for impairment in the second quarter of 2002 and again in the first quarter of
2003 in accordance with SFAS No. 142, no impairment was defermined fo exist at those times. Innotrac’s goodwill
carrying amount as of December 31, 2002 was $25.0 million. This asset relates to the goodwill associated with the
Company’s acquisition of Universal Distribution Services (“UDS”) in December 2000, including the earnout payment
made to the former UDS shareholders in February 2002, and the acquisition of iFulfillment, Inc. in July 2001.

Long-Lived Assets. In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets.” SFAS No. 144 supercedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived
Assets to be Disposed of,” and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results
of Operations Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently
Occurring Events and Transactions,” and amends APB Opinion Ne. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements.” SFAS No. 144
retains many of the requirements of SFAS No. 121 and the basic provisions of APB Opinion No. 30; however, it establishes
a single accounting model for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale. The Company adopted SFAS No. 144 on
January 1, 2002. The impairment loss recorded during the year ended December 31, 2002 was accounted for in accor-
dance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144 (see Note 4).

Deferred Tax Asset. Innotrac utilizes the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method, deferred taxes
are determined based on the difference between the financial and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates
in effect in the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded against deferred
tax assets if the Company considers it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be redlized {see Note 8).

Revenue Recognition. Innotrac derives its revenue primarily from two sources: (1) fulfiliment operations and {2} the delivery
of business services. Innotrac’s fulfillment services operations record revenue at the conclusion of the material selection,
packaging and shipping process. Innotrac’s call center services business recognizes revenue according to written pricing
agreements based on number of calls, minutes or hourly rate basis. All other revenues are recognized as services are
rendered. As required by the consensus reached in Emerging Issue Task Force {“EITF”) Issue No. 99-19, revenues have
been recorded net of the cost of the equipment for all fee-for-service clients.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

During 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) issued EITF No. 01-14, “Income Statement Characterization of
Reimbursements Received for Out-of-Pocket Expenses Incurred,” which was adopted by the Company as of January 1, 2002.
EITF No 01-14 states that reimbursements received from customers for out-of-pocket expenses incurred on their behalf
should be characterized as revenue in the Company's statement of operations. Prior to the adoption of this standard, the
Company netted reimbursements from customers, primarily for freight and postage fees, against the related expenses
within revenues. With the adoption of this standard, the Company has reclassified reimbursements from customers for
these expenses as cost of revenues, and has conformed this presentation for all periods presented. The adoption of EITF 01-14
increased the reimbursable costs line item within total revenues and total cost of revenues from amounts previously reported in
2001 and 2000 by $27.1 million and $28.9 million, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation Plans. The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation plans under Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”). Since the exercise price for all options
granted under those plans was equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant, no com-
pensation cost is recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Had compensation cost for stock
options been determined under a fair value based methed, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 148, the Company’s net income (loss) and net income {loss) per share would have been the following pro
forma amounts {in 000’s, except per share data):

Year ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
Net income (loss} $(4,419) $4,385 $(21,575)
Pro forma net income {loss) $(5,074) $3,350 $(22,347)
Diluted net income {loss) per share $ {0.38) $ 038 $ (1.92
Pro forma net income {loss) per share $(044) $ 029 $ {1.99)

Under the fair value based method, compensation cost, net of tax is $655,000, $1,035,000 and $772,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company has computed for pro forma disclosure purposes the value of all options granted using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model as prescribed by SFAS No. 123 using the following weighted average assumptions:

2002 2001 2000
Risk-free interest rote 4.05% 5.45% 5.44%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected lives 3.1 Years 2.7 Years 2.7 Years
Expected volatility 86.6% 84.3% 90.4%

Minority Interests. Mincrity interest arises from Mail Boxes Etc {“MBE”) 40% (14% prior to December 29, 2000) ownership
of Return.com Online, LLC (“Return.com”), a subsidiary of the Company. In March 2001, United Parcel Services, Inc.
{“UPS”) announced a definitive agreement to purchase MBE. As a result of this agreement, the Company reacquired
MBE’s 40% ownership interest in Return.com in April 2001. A note receivable of $3.4 million due from MBE, at that time,
was forgiven by the Company in exchange for MBE's ownership inferest in Refurn.com, resulting in 100% ownrership by
the Company.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continved

As a result of the Company’s controlling ownership interest in Return.com, the Company consolidated the results of operations
and financial position of Return.com in the accompanying 2001 and 2000 consolidated financial statements. During the
year ended December 31, 2001, the Company wrote off its $2.8 million investment in Return.com against an impairment
reserve the Company recerded in the first quarter of 2001. At December 31, 2001, Return.com was no longer in operation.

Earnings Per Share. Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding. In the computation of diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding is adjusted for the effect of all potential common stock equivalent shares.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements. In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit
or Disposal Activities.” This Statement requires recording costs associated with exit or disposal activities at their fair values
when a liability has been incurred. Under previous guidance, cerfain exit costs were accrued upon management's commit-
ment fo an exit plan, which is generally before an actual liability has been incurred. Adoption of this Statement is required
at the beginning of fiscal year 2003. The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of SFAS No. 146 will have o
material impact on its consolidated financial posifion, results of operations or cash flows.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure
- an Amendment to FASB Statement No. 123,” which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2002. SFAS
No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to provide dlternative methods of transi-
tion for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. SFAS
No. 148 also amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and
interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the
method used on reported results. The Company accounts for stock-based compensation under Accounting Principles
Board {“APB") Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” The Company intends to continue to account
for stock-based employee compensation under APB No. 25. Note 2 {above) includes the additional disclosure require-
ments of SFAS No. 148 as required by entities which continue to account for stock-based employee compensation under
APB No. 25.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation {“FIN“) No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Other.” FIN 45 requires foomnote disclosure of the guarantees or
indemnification agreements a company issues. With certain exceptions, these agreements will also require @ company to
prospectively recognize an inifial liability for the fair value, or market value, of the obligations it assumes under the guarantee.
The initial recognition and initial measurement provisions of this Interpretation are applicable on a prospective basis to
guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The disclosure requirements of the Interpretation are effective
for financial statements of the interim or annual periods ending after December 15, 2002. The Company does not antic-
ipate that the adoption of the recognition and measurement provisions of FIN No. 45 will have a material impact on its
consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. The disclosure requirements of FIN No. 45 have been
considered in the Company’s 2002 consolidated financial statements.

INNOTRAC CORPORATION




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS coninves

ACQUISITIONS

In July 2001, the Company acquired the assets and assumed specified liabilities of iFulfillment, Inc. {“iFulfillment”} for
approximately $5.8 million. iFulfillment specializes in fully integrated, automated order fulfillment services for multi-channel
retailers and catalogers. The transaction was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting and, accordingly,
the operating results of iFulfillment have been included since the date of acquisition in the Company’s consolidated results
of operations. The Company has accounted for this transaction in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 141 and
SFAS No. 142. In 2002, net purchase price adjustments of $225,000 were recorded which decreased the amount of
recorded goodwill for the iFulfillment acquisition. The following table summarizes the assets purchased and liabilities
assumed as well as the allocation of the purchase price to various intangibles and goodwill {in 000's):

Current assets $ 207
Current liabilities (1,869)
Property 1,417
Other liabilities {632)
Customer contract 250
Goodwill 6,440

Purchase price $5813

In December 2000, the Company acquired UDS for approximately $4.3 million in total consideration which was accounted
for under the purchase method of accounting. Operating results for UDS have been included in the Company’s results
since December 2000. At December 31, 2001, the Company recorded an accrual for approximately $15.3 million for
payment to the sellers of UDS under the terms of an earn-out provision contained in the merger agreement. The earn-out
accrual was recorded as additional goodwill. In February 2002, the payment was made consisting of $13.7 million of
cash and 310,000 shares of the Company’s common stock valued at $1.6 million. No additional earn-out amounts were
due or payable at December 31, 2002. As a result, goodwill related to UDS at December 31, 2002 amounted to $18.5 mil-
lion, net of accumulated amortization of $0.3 million.

Pro forma results have not been presented as these acquisitions were not considered material.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

4
SPECIAL CHARGES AND SPECIAL CREDITS

During 2000, the Company substantially completed its migration towards a fee-for-service business model, which eliminates
inventory ownership risk, and also elected to discontinue ifs front-end web site development, maintenance and hosting services
to its e-commerce clients. As a result of these significant changes in the Company’s business, a special pre-tax charge of
$34.3 million was recognized. The special charges of $34.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 includes the
following: $24.4 million for inventory, accounts receivable and other items primarily related to the Company’s shift to a
fee-for-service business model; $6.2 million for the impairment of long-lived assets primarily due to the abandonment of
specified software development projects; and $3.7 million in costs to exit the e-commerce business related to web devel-
opment, maintenance and hosting services.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had approximately $277,000 and $4.6 million, respectively, in accruals
related to the special charges recorded during the year ended December 31, 2000. The remaining accruals at December 31,
2002 relate to exiting the front-end e-commerce and web hosting business. Cash payments relating to these accruals for
the year ended December 31, 2002 were approximately $716,000. The Company recognized approximately $3.0 million
during the year ended December 31, 2002, related to gains reclized on sales of inventory items which were written off
as special charges in previcus pericds, cash collected for accounts receivable that were written off as special charges in
previous periods, redeployment of leased computer hardware for which the leases were fully accrued for as special
charges in previous periods, and client contract amendments which resulted in reduced liabilities. These amounts were
recorded as a reduction in the special charge line item in the consolidated statements of operations. The remaining accrual,
which is associated with one specific client, will be fully utilized by the end of 2003.

During the third quarter of 2002, the Company recognized an additional $3.1 million in special charges. Approximately
$2.4 million of these charges were related to capitalized hardware and software costs for systems purchased specifically
for a potential new client which were subsequently not utilized as originally planned. The loss of the potential customer
indicated that the carrying value of the asset group was potentially not recoverable, and therefore, an impairment test
under the provisions of SFAS No. 144 was performed. As fair market value of the asset group was not readily defer-
minable, a discounted, probability weighted cash flow model was utilized as a basis to determine fair value. As a result
of the cash flow andlysis, a $2.4 million impairment charge was recorded. Of the remaining charges, approximately
$500,000 related to the write-down to net realizable value of specified fixed assets obtained as part of the Decem-
ber 2000 acquisition of UDS which were being utilized for one specific customer who ceased conducting business with
UDS. The balance of approximately $200,000 was related to severance costs for positions which were eliminated.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continsed

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE ‘
Accounts receivable were composed of the following at December 31, 2002 and 2001 {in 000's):

2002 2001

Billed receivables $13,606  $16,846
Unbilled receivables 1,556 79
15,162 16,925

Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (959) (3,263)

$14,203  $13,662

6
FINANCING OBLIGATIONS

The Company has a revolving credit agreement with a bank for borrowings up to $40 million. In May 2002, the
Company extended its credit facility until June 2005. The Company and all of its subsidiaries have pledged all of its assets
and provided guarantees to the lender as collateral under this revolving credit agreement. At December 2002, the Company
had approximately $14.4 million outstanding in borrowings under the line of credit. At December 31, 2001, the Company
did not have any outstanding borrowings under the line of credit. The revolving line of credit agreement contains various
restrictive financial and change of ownership control covenants.

The May 2002 amendment added provisions limiting borrowings under the agreement to a defined margin or borrowing base
{which was $31.5 million at December 31, 2002) and tightened several of the financial covenants. At December 31, 2002
the Company had $17.1 million available under the revolving credit agreement. Additional modifications were made to
the line of credit agreement in November 2002 and February 2003 addressing the financial covenants. At December 31,
2002, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under the amended and modified credit agreement.The more
restrictive financial covenants require the Company to maintain tangible net worth, as defined by the revolving credit agree-
ment, of at least $34 million and a debt to tangible net worth ratio of not more than 1.5 10 1.

Tangible net worth is defined as shareholders’ equity less goodwill, other intangible assets and certain deferred costs. Included
in the tangible net worth calculation is the carrying amount of the Company’s deferred tax asset. Compliance with the min-
imum fangible net worth covenant and other financial covenants are determined on a quarterly basis. The Company’s
tangible net worth as defined in the revolving credit agreement exceeds the required minimum tangible net worth as of

December 31, 2002 by approximately $100,000.

The revolving credit agreement is classified as o noncurrent liability in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31,
2002. During the first quarter of 2003, the Company is in ongoing negotiations with the lender to medify the terms of the
revolving credit agreement. The result of these negotiations could require borrowings under this revolving credit agreement
to be included in current liabilities in the future.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Interest on borrowings is payable monthly at rates equal to the prime rate, or ot the Company’s option, LIBOR plus up to
225 basis points. During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2000 the Company incurred interest expense related
to the line of credit of approximately $266,100 and $433,300, respectively, resulting in a weighted average interest rate
of 3.75%, and 7.49%, respectively. No borrowings or interest was incurred in 2001. The Company also incurred unused
revolving credit facility fees of approximately $123,000 during the year ended December 31, 2002.

/
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases. Innotrac leases office and warehouse space and equipment under various operating leases. The primary
office and warehouse operating leases provide for escalating payments over the lease term. Innotrac recognizes rent
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company also has capital lease obligations that expire over the
next three years primarily for warehouse equipment and computer hardware.

Aggregate future minimum lease payments under noncancellable operating and capital leases with original periods in
excess of one year as of December 31, 2002 are as follows {in 000%):

Capital  Operating

Leases Leases
2003 $159  $ 6,866
2004 95 6,619
2005 33 5,507
2006 - 5,547
2007 - 4,732
Thereafter - 900
Total minimum lease payments $287  $30,177
Amount related to interest (27}
Capital lease obligations 260
Current portion (144)
Long-term portion 3116

Rent expense under all operating leases totaled approximately $6.1 million, $4.2 million and $3.1 million during the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Legal Proceedings. The Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business.
There are no material pending legal proceedings to which the Company is a party.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS confinued

Employment Commitment. In June 1999, in conjunction with the opening of a new call center facility, the Company entered into
an Employment Commitment Agreement with the City of Pueblo, Colorado whereby the Company received cash incentives
of $968,000. These funds were accounted for as a reduction in the basis of the assets acquired. In return for this consid-
eration, the Company is cbligated to employ & minimum number of full-time employees at its Pueblo facility, measured on
a quarterly basis. This obligation, which became effective June 2002, will continue through June 2009. During 2002, the
Company had substantially met the minimum employee requirements of 359 full-time employees, as measured on o quarterly
basis. In the event that the number of full-time employees fails to meet the minimum requirement, the Company will incur
a quarterly penalty of $96.30 per employee for each employee less than the minimum required ameunt.

INCOME TAXES
Details of the income tax benefit {provision) for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 are as follows (in 000's):

2002 2001 2000
Current $ - $ 815 § 8,457
Deferred 2,578 {3,388) 5,627

$2,578 $(2,573)  $14,084

Deferred income taxes reflect the net effect of the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The signiﬁcont components of the
Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 are os follows {in 000s):

2002 2001
Current deferred tax assets:
Allowance for doubtful accounts § 364 $1,466
Reserve for returns and equipment losses 4 413
Other reserves 184 857
552 2,736
Noncurrent deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Net operating loss carryforwards 10,409 1,910
Depreciation (2,516) (1,454)
Other 47 (18)
7,940 438
Net deferred tax asset $ 8,492 $3,174
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Innotrac utilizes the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method, deferred taxes are determined
based on the difference between the financial and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect in
the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded against deferred tax assets
if the Company considers it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be realized. Innotrac’s net deferred tax
asset as of December 31, 2002 is approximately $8.5 million. This net deferred tax asset was primarily generated by net
operating loss carryforwards created primarily by two events, the special charge of $34.3 million recorded in 2000 and
the net loss generated in 2002. Innotrac has a tax net operating loss carryforward of $27.6 million at December 31,
2002 that expires between 2018 and 2020. Although the Company has generated financial reporting and tax losses in
2000 and 2002, the Company was profitable in 2001. Further, 2000 and 2002 were the only years with losses since
Innotrac began its operations in 1984. Management believes that its net operating loss carryforwards will be utilized
before their expiration through future earnings. This assessment is based on management's expectations of increased revenues,
lower selling, general and administrative expenses, reduced capital expenditures and no impairment losses related to
goodwill in the future.

Innotrac’s ability to generate the expected amounts of taxable income from future operations is dependent upon general
economic conditions, competitive pressures on sales and margins and other factors beyond management's control. There can
be no assurance that Innotrac will meet its expectations for future taxable income in the carryforward period. However,
management considered the above factors in reaching the conclusion that it is more likely than not that future taxable
income will be sufficient to fully reclize the net deferred tax asset at December 31, 2002, The amount of the net deferred
tax asset considered realizable, however, could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income during
the carryforward period are reduced.

A reconciliation of the income tax (benefit) provision computed at statutory rates to the income tax provision {benefit) for

the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 is as follows:

2002 2001 2000
Federal statutory rate (34.0)% 34.0% (35.0)%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit (4.0) 4.0 (4.0}
ltems not deductible for tax purposes 1.1 4.3 {0.7)
Other 0.1 0.1 0.4

(36.8)% 42.4% (39.3)%

9
EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table shows the shares {in 000's) used in computing diluted earnings per share (“EPS”} in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128:

2002 2001 2000
Diluted earnings per share:
Weighted average shares outstanding 11,516 11,318 11,212
Employee and director stock options - 372 -
Weighted average shares
assuming dilution 11,516 11,690 11,212

Options and warrants outstanding to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock aggregating 2.2 million, 1.0 million
and 2.0 million were not included in the computation of diluted EPS for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively, because their effect was anti-dilutive.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

10
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income,” established standards for reporting and display of comprehensive
income and its components in financial statements. For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the com-
ponents of the Company’s comprehensive income are as follows (in 000's):

Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
Other comprehensive income:
Net income (loss) $(4,419) $4,385  $(21,575)
Unrealized gain - 177 -

Reclassification adjustment for
realized gains included in
consolidated statement of operations (76) - -

Comprehensive income {loss) $(4,495) $4,562  $(21,575)

11
SHAREHOLDERS” EQUITY

In June 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors cuthorized the repurchase, at the direction of senior management, of
up to $5.0 million of the Company’s common stock. The stock repurchase program was extended for an additional twelve
months by the Board of Directors in February 2002. During the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the
Company repurchased approximately 205,400, 6,400 and 45,000 shares at a total cost of $448,000, $49,000 and
$206,000, respectively.

12
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS

Innotrac employees may participate in a 401k} defined contribution plan. The plan covers all employees who have at

least six months of service and are 18 years of age or older. Participants may elect to defer up to 15% of compensation up
to @ maximum amount determined annually pursuant to IRS regulations. Innotrac’s policy is to provide matching employer
contributions equal to 15% of contributions for less than five years of service, 25% of contributions for five to nine years
of service, and 35% of contributions for over nine years of service. However, this match was suspended from January 1, 2002
through June 30, 2002, reinstituted from July 1, 2002 through December 31, 2002 and has been temporarily suspended
thereafter. Total matching contributions made to the plan and charged to expense by Innotrac for the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001 was approximately $49,156 and $108,000, respectively. The Company’s matching for
the year ended December 31, 2000 was not material.

The Company has an executive deferred compensation plan for certain employees, as designated by the Company’s Board
of Directors. Participants may elect to defer up to 30% of compensation. innotrac’s policy is to provide matching employer
contributions ranging from 20% to 100% of employee contributions based on years of service. However, this match was
suspended for 2002. Matching contributions were $79,412 and $79,360 for the years ended December 31, 2001 and
2000, respectively. The Company invests these contributions in employee-directed marketable equity securities which are
recorded as trading securities at fair-market value on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet (in other assets) and
aggregated $563,506 at December 31, 2002, The monies held by the plan are subject to general creditors of the
Company in the event of a Company bankruptey filing.
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13

STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has adopted two stock option plans: the 1997 and 2000 Stock Option and Incentive Award Plans {“The Plans”).
The Plans provide key employees, officers, directors, contractors and consultants an opportunity to own shares of common
stock of the Company and to provide incentives for such persons to promote the financial success of the Company. Awards
under The Plans may be structured in a variety of ways, including as “incentive stock options” as defined in Section 422
of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended, non-qualified stock options, restricted stock awards, and stock appreciation
rights [“SARs”). Incentive stock options may be granted only fo full-time employees (including officers) of the Company
and its subsidiaries. Non-qualified options, restricted stock awards, SARs, and other permitted forms of awards may be
granted to any person employed by or performing services for the Company, including directors, confractors and consultants.
The 1997 Stock Option Plan and 2000 Stock Option Plan, as amended, provide for the issuance of options to purchase up
to an aggregate of 800,000 shares and 2,800,000 shares of common stock, respectively.

Incentive stock opfions are also subject to certain limitations prescribed by the Code, including the requirement that such
options may not be granted to employees who own more than 10% of the combined veting power of all classes of voting
stock of the Company, unless the option price is at least 110% of the fair market value of the common stock subject to the
option. The Board of Directors of the Company {or a committee designated by the Board} otherwise generally has discrefion
to set the terms and conditions of options and other awards, including the term, exercise price and vesting conditions, if any;
to select the persons who receive such grants and awards; and to interpret and administer The Plans.

A summary of the options outstanding and exercisable by price range as of December 31, 2002 is as follows
{shares in 000's):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Range of As of Remaining Average As of Average

Exercise Prices December 31, 2002 Contractual Life  Exercise Price December 31, 2002  Exercise Price

$1.77-% 3.54 854 8.6 $ 3.28 193 $ 313
$ 354-% 531 276 7.2 472 132 4.87
$531-$ 707 287 7.9 6.52 70 6.10
$707-% 884 306 7.5 7.35 100 7.13
$ 8.84-3$10.61 235 4.8 2.10 235 9.10
$10.61-812.38 20 5.3 12.00 20 12.00
$12.38-$14.15 16 2.3 12.94 15 12.97
$15.92 - $17.68 30 6.0 16.56 25 16.67
2,023 7.6 $ 5.59 790 $ 681
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A summary of activity in the Company's two stock option plans is as follows {shares in 000’s):

Weighted

Average

Shares Price

Outstanding at December 31, 1999 528 $10.98
Granted 1,725 5.00
Forfeited {454) 717
Outstanding at December 31, 2000 1,799 6.19
Granted 454 7.35
Forfeited _ {490} 7.07
Outstanding at December 31, 2001 1,763 6.29
Granted 559 341
Forfeited (299} 5.15
Outstanding at December 31, 2002 2,023 $ 5.59
Options exercisable at December 31, 2002 790 $6.81

14

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company leases, on an as-needed basis, a single engine aircraft from a company wholly-owned by its Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to an agreement that provides for annual rent of $60,000. Such rent was paid in 2002,
2001 and 2000. Innotrac is responsible for maintenance, insurance, taxes, fuel and other expenses associated with the
business use of the aircraft.

The Company paid approximately $63,000, $51,200 and $79,600 during 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, in
fees to an accounting firm for tax and consulting services. One of the directors of the Company is the Managing Partner
of that firm.

The Company paid approximately $744,000, $1,083,300 and $881,000 during 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively,
in fees fo a print broker, for services related to the printing of markefing, client, inter-company and other materials. The
broker is the brother of the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.
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15

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

First  Second Third Fourth
{000’s, except per share data)
2002 Quarters: (restated)  {restated)
Revenues, net $21,048 $19,351 $20,064 $21,957
Operating income {loss) 1,584 588  (8,462) (513)
Net income (loss) 966 313 (5,308) (390)
Net income {loss) per share - basic 0.08 0.03 (0.44) (0.03)

Net income {loss) per share - diluted

2001 Quarters:
Revenues, net
Operating income (loss)
Net income
Net income per share — basic
Net income per share — diluted

$ 008 § 003

$32,870 $33,704

(824) 1,782
500 1,035
0.04 0.09

§ 004 $ 009

$ {0.46) $ (0.03)

$28,582 $26,703
1,940 2,615
1,264 1,586
0.1 0.15
$ 011 $ 014

16
PRIOR YEAR RECLASSIFICATIONS

In order to maintain consistency and comparability between periods presented, certain revisions have been made to the
accompanying Consclidated Financial Stotements and related notes as of December 31, 2001 and for each of the two years in
the period ended December 31, 2001. Such reclassifications of previously reported financial statement amounts and addi-
tions fo certain disclosures have been made to conform to the 2002 financial statement presentation as follows:

¢ Consolidated Balance Sheets:

— Accrued payroll and commissions which were previously classified in accrued expenses and other have been

separately disclosed.

— Common stock shares issued and outstanding ot December 31, 2001 have been disclosed.

¢ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements:

- Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies: Available-for-sale marketable equity securities at December 31, 2001 have

been disclosed.

— Note 9, Earnings per Share: Options outstanding which were anti-dilutive and not included in the computation of

EPS for 2001 and 2000 have been disclosed.

— Note 12, Employee Retirement Plans: Matching contributiens for the executive deferred compensation plan for 2001

and 2000 have been disclosed.

~ Note 14, Related Party Transactions: Payments for an aircraft lease, for accounting fees and for print services for

2001 and 2000 have been disclosed.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

Innotrac Corporation

The Company has never paid a dividend on its
common stock. The Company presently intends to

6655 Sugarloaf Parkway retain its earnings to support the growth of its
Duluth, Georgia 30097 business and does not expect to pay any dividends
678.584.4000 in the foreseeable future.
www.innotrac.com
TRANSFER AGENT BOARD OF DIRECTORS
SunTrust Bank, Atlanta Scott D. Dorfman'"®
PO. Box 4625 {hoirman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Aflanta, Georgia 30302 David L. Gomsey
Senior Vice President,
ANNUAL MEETING Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

Monday, May 19, 2003

9 a.m. Eastern Daylight Time
Gwinnett Civic ond Cultural Center
6400 Sugarloaf Parkway

David L. Ellin®
Senior Vice President — Sales

Larry C. Hanger

Senior Vice President — Client Services

Bruce V. Benator!"?
Managing Partner — Williams Benator & Libby, LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Martin J. Blank®®
Independent Legat Consultent

Joel E. Marks?®
Independent Consultant

Duluth, Georgia 30097

FORM 10-K/INVESTOR CONTACT

A copy of the Innotrac Annual Report on Form 10-K
for 2002 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission is available from the Company at no
charge. These requests and other investor contacts
should be directed to the Chief Financial Officer ot

the Company’s corporate office.

COMMON STOCK

Innotrac’s common stock trades on The Nasdag Stock
Market under the symbol INOC. As of March 18,
2003, the Company had approximately 2,072 OFFICERS
shareholders based on the number of holders of
record and an estimate of the number of individual
participants represented by securities position listings.

™ Member of Executive Committee
@ Member of Audit Committee
® Member of Compensation Committee

Scott D. Dorfman
Cheirman, President and Chief Executive Officer

David L. Gamsey

Senior Vice President,

Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
David L. Ellin

Senior Vice President — Sales

The following table sets forth the reported high
and low sales prices for Innotrac’s common stock
as reported by Nosdaq:

2002 High Low

First Quarter $7.22  $3.40
Second Quarter  6.35 412
Third Quarter 572 2.20
Fourth Quarter 3.14 1.80

2001 High Low

First Quarter $6.25  $3.25
Second Quarter  7.51 613
Third Quarter 8.92 5.55
Fourth Quarter 8.00 5.00

Larry C. Hanger
Senior Vice President — Client Services

Robert J. Torer, Jr.
Vice President — Logistics
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